1960

Gayland v. Salt Lake County et al : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action, filed March 18, 1960, in the Third District Court, brought by Gayland, a Utah Corporation, against Salt Lake County and individual commissioners for a declaratory judgment declaring Title 8 of the Salt Lake County Ordinance unlawful, illegal and

of no force and effect, or for an order directing the members of the Board of County Commissioners of Salt Lake County to approve the zoning amendment designed to effectuate a change in zoning classification of the property at 1300 East and 5600 South from Residential R-2 to Commercial C-2. A recommendation for said change had previously been denied by the District Zoning Committee and had been approved by the Planning Commission. The Salt Lake County Commission denied the proposed amendment by a 2-1 vote on May 14, 1960.

The trial court ruled that Salt Lake County had failed to establish a master plan but found that the evidence submitted does not establish that such failure prejudiced the substantial rights of the Plaintiff.

The court determined, however that the Board of County Commissioners should have approved and adopted the amendment to the zoning ordinance of Salt Lake County and directed said commissioners to approve and adopt said amendment.

Under date of April 26, 1960, over the signature of Ray Van Cott Jr., Judge of the District Court, a Decree was issued ordering that the individual defendants above named as members of the Board of County Commissioners of Salt Lake County, Utah be and they were thereby required and directed to forthwith approve and adopt an amendment to the zoning ordinances of Salt Lake County, State of Utah as recommended by the Salt Lake County Planning Commission rezoning from zoning classification Residential R-2 to Commercial

C-2 the following described tract of land in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, to wit:

“Beginning at the point of intersection of the center lines of 5600 South and 1300 East street; thence North following along the center line of 1300 East street 813 feet; thence West parallel to 5600 South street 650 feet; thence South parallel to 1300 East street to the center line of 5600 South street; thence East following along the center line of last said street to the point of beginning. All above described property located in Section 17, Township 2 South, Range 1 East, Salt Lake Base and Meridian, containing approximately 10 acres.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN ISSUING ITS ORDER SINCE IT LACKS JURISDICTION TO ORDER THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS TO PERFORM A LEGISLATIVE AND DISCRETIONARY ACT.

POINT II.

THE SALT LAKE COUNTY COMMISSION, IN AMENDING OR REFUSING TO AMEND ITS ORDINANCES, ACTS IN A LEGISLATIVE CAPACITY AND AS SUCH THE MOTIVES PROMPTING ITS ACTION CANNOT BE INQUIRED INTO. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED, THEREFORE, IN HAVING MAKE FINDINGS UPON SAID MOTIVES AND BASING ITS DECISION THEREON.

POINT III.

THE DENIAL BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS TO ADOPT THE ZONING AMENDMENT WAS

NOT AN ARBITRARY OR UNREASONABLE ACT, NOR WAS IT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE DENYING THE REASONABLE EXERCISE OF THE POLICE POWER ON THE PART OF THE COUNTY COMMISSIONERS.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN ISSUING ITS ORDER SINCE IT LACKS JURISDICTION TO ORDER THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS TO PERFORM A LEGISLATIVE AND DISCRETIONARY ACT.

The order of the trial court, directing the appellant board to adopt an amendment re-zoning the land in question sounds in the nature of a writ of mandate (R-30). Although the historical pleadings for a writ of mandamus have been abolished by the Utah rules of civil procedure, 65B (a) the methods of obtaining the same type of relief as was formerly given by the writ is now possible under present day pleadings as defined by the Utah rules.

Rule 65 B(b)(3) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provides that relief will be granted:

“Where the relief sought is to compel any . . . board or person to perform an act which the law specifically enjoins as a duty resulting from an office, trust or station.”

The jurisdiction of the trial court to issue this decree must be founded upon a showing by respondent the respondent has a clear legal right to have the area

in question re-zoned, and that there has been a violation of a legal duty resting upon the appellant board to adopt the proposed ordinance. Without this showing, the remedy sought must be withheld, and granting the remedy without this showing constitutes error.

In the case of *State ex rel Bishop v. Moorehouse*, 38 Utah 234, 112 P. 169, 171, the Utah Supreme Court, defining in what instances mandamus will issue, said:

“ . . . To warrant the court, in granting a writ against a public officer, such a state of facts must be presented as to show that the relator has a clear right to the performance of the thing demanded, and that a corresponding duty rests upon the officer to perform that particular thing. And when substantial doubt exists as to the duty whose performance it is sought to coerce, or as to the right or power of the officer to perform such duty, the relief will be withheld.’ Where there is a discretion vested in the officer, the rule generally applied is stated by the author in section 41 of Merrill, on Mandamus, in the following words: ‘But the action of an officer in a matter which calls for the exercise of his discretion or judgment will not be reviewed by the writ of mandamus unless he has been guilty of a clear and wilful disregard of his duty, or such action is shown to be extremely wrong or flagrantly improper and unjust, so that the decision can only be explained as the result of caprice, passion or partiality.’ In speaking of the general rule which is ordinarily applied by the courts in passing on the question whether the writ should be granted or withheld, Wood on Mandamus, etc., at page 51 of his work, says: ‘And generally it may be said that a mandamus will not be issued unless the

duty it is sought to enforce is a legal duty, clear and free from doubt, and the right of the party seeking redress through this summary remedy is equally clear.' ” (Page 171)

The same rule should apply under the new Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, since the remedy and relief sought is the same, although the technical titles for the relief have been abolished.

The appellant board, acting within its discretion, by a two to one vote refused to adopt the proposed amendment. (R-17) For the court now to order the board to adopt legislation it has once refused is beyond the power of the court. Appellant submits that it is a fundamental proposition of government that the court may not legislate. The judicial process is to interpret the law, not to make the law. (See Conley, State's attorney, ex rel. Rowell v. Boyle et al., 115 Conn. 406, 162 A. 26.)

Lacking the power to issue such an order the court is lacking in jurisdiction and thus erred in issuing its decree.

POINT II.

THE SALT LAKE COUNTY COMMISSION, IN AMENDING OR REFUSING TO AMEND ITS ORDINANCES, ACTS IN A LEGISLATIVE CAPACITY AND AS SUCH THE MOTIVES PROMPTING ITS ACTION CANNOT BE INQUIRED INTO. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED, THEREFORE, IN HAVING MAKE FINDINGS UPON SAID MOTIVES AND BASING ITS DECISION THEREON.

Utah Code Annotated, 1953, Title 17, Chapter 27, Section 1, provides that the county commissioners of each

county are authorized and empowered to zone all or any part of the unincorporated territory of said county. Utah Code Annotated, 1953, Title 17, Chapter 27, Section 14, authorizes the amendment of said zoning ordinances and provides procedures to be followed to accomplish said amendments. Its language is as follows:

“The board of county commissioners may from time to time amend the number, shape, boundaries or area of any district or districts, or any regulation of or within such district or districts, or any other provisions of the zoning resolution, but any such amendment shall not be made or become effective unless the same shall have been proposed by or be first submitted for the approval, disapproval or suggestions of the county planning commission; and if disapproved by such commission within thirty days after such submission, such amendment, to become effective, shall receive the favorable vote of not less than a majority of the entire membership of the board of county commissioners. Before finally adopting any such amendment, the board of county commissioners shall hold a public hearing thereon, at least thirty day's notice of the time and place of which shall be given by at least one publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the county.”

That the adoption and amendment of zoning ordinances is a legislative function was decided by this court in the case of *Walton v. Tracy Loan and Trust Co., et al.*, 97 Utah 249, 92 Pac. 2nd, 724, 726, wherein it said, (after pointing out that the terms of the statutes themselves described the power to zone as a legislative function) as follows:

“Independent of the statutory provisions referred to above, no one could doubt that the exercise of the zoning power is definitely a legislative function and activity.”

That zoning is a legislative function was not decided but simply assumed in the later cases of *Phi Kappa Iota Fraternity v. Salt Lake City, et al.*, 116 Utah 536, 212 Pac. 2nd 177, and *Dowse v. Salt Lake City Corporation*, 123 Utah 107, 255 Pac. 2nd, 723.

Being a legislative and therefore discretionary function, the motives of the Salt Lake County Commission should not have been inquired into according to the view of this court expressed in the case of *City of Ogden v. Crossman*, 17 Utah, 66, 53 Pac. 985, 988, wherein the validity of an act of the Ogden City council was involved, this court said:

“It is apparent that the ordinance in question was passed by virtue of the express power and authority of the state as authorized by the constitution. Under such circumstances it was not competent to prove the unreasonableness of an ordinance by virtue of the conclusion of witnesses. The regulation of the matter was left by law to the discretion of the city council and not to the defendants. By granting the power the legislature imposed upon the city council the discretion to determine just how far they could go within the limits imposed and there is every presumption that the council were actuated by pure motives and that they were so familiar with the mischief sought to be guarded against and the needs of the city as to be the best judges of the necessities for the enactment of the ordinance and the extent

to which it was advisable or necessary to exercise the power granted. In such cases the council and not the court is the proper repository of this public trust; and it should be a plain case to justify the court in interfering with the determination of the council or questioning their motives in enacting the ordinance. Under the circumstances, the court ought not to interfere on the ground that the ordinance was unreasonable, but is restricted to the constitutionality of the act granting the power. The ordinance itself proves the exigency which existed which required its enactment."

That this is the general and almost unanimous attitude of the courts in this country is indicated in an annotation entitled "Validity of Municipal Ordinances as Affected by Motives of Members of Council which Adopted It," 32 ALR 1517. The author of that annotation begins with the following statement:

"It is generally held that the motive of the legislative body of a municipal corporation, in adopting an ordinance, is not the subject of judicial inquiry."

Then following are citations quoting that rule from most jurisdictions in this country, including Utah.

The finding of the trial court as expressed in paragraph 11 of its "Findings of Fact" was clearly an invasion by the trial court into the motives of the County Commission. Said finding is as follows:

"11. The action of the board of county commissioners of Salt Lake County in denying said zoning amendment was unreasonable, arbitrary

and an abuse of sound executive and administrative discretion in the following particulars: (a) the denial was based wholly upon the premise that such a denial would protect an economic advantage already obtained by owners of other land zoned commercially in the general marketing area in which the land in question is located; (b) The planning and zoning commission, after investigation, determined the amendment was necessary to best serve the population of the area in question; (c) At the public hearing in the matter no evidence of any kind was presented in opposition to the proposed amendment except the testimony and statements of competing, yet remote commercial users who opposed the zoning amendment in order to protect their own economic advantage acquired by prior commercial zoning." (R-29, 30)

The assumption by the trial court that the denial of the commission was based wholly upon any one premise, and that said premise was one on which they were not justified in acting demonstrates the hazards of attempting to ascribe motives to the action of legislative bodies. It is submitted that no one knows and no one can know on what basis the county commission made their decision.

The conclusion of the lower court that the amendment requested by plaintiffs should have been granted, having been based largely on the above conclusion concerning the motives of the commission, is therefore in error and should be reversed.

POINT III.

THE DENIAL BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS TO ADOPT THE ZONING AMENDMENT WAS NOT AN ARBITRARY OR UNREASONABLE ACT, NOR WAS IT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE DENYING THE REASONABLE EXERCISE OF THE POLICE POWER ON THE PART OF THE COUNTY COMMISSIONERS.

The question of zoning authority and the authorized use of the police power by the governing municipal bodies, arose in Utah in the case of *Marshall v. Salt Lake City*, 105 Utah 111, 141 Pac. 2nd, 704. In that case Salt Lake City appealed from a decision of the District Court which ruled that the Mayor and City council had acted arbitrarily in the enforcement of its zoning ordinances. The Supreme Court reversed the trial court which had held against the city. Part of the language in that case is as follows: (141 Pac. 2nd 709, 710)

“The wisdom of the plan, the necessity for zoning, the number and nature of the districts to be created, the boundaries thereof, and the uses therein permitted, are matters which lie in the discretion of the governing body of the city. Unless the action of such body is arbitrary, discriminatory or unreasonable, or clearly offends some provision of the constitution or statute, the court must uphold it, if within the grant of power to the municipality.”

The court cites four cases in support of this point of law. The case states further:

It is primarily the duty of the city to make the classifications. If a classification is reasonably

doubtful, the judgment of the court will not be substituted for the judgment of the city," and further, "As to what restrictions and limitations should be imposed upon property, and what uses thereof should be permitted, has been by the legislature, committed to the judgment and discretion of the governing body of the city. As long as that body stays within the grant, and purposes fixed by the legislature, the courts will not gainsay (its) judgment.

In the case of Phi Kappa Iota Fraternity v. Salt Lake City 116 Utah 536, 212 Pac. 2d 177, the fraternity sought to determine the constitutionality of a City Ordinance confining the use of premises in a restricted residential area, for a fraternity or a sorority, to an area not more than 600 feet from the institution to which the fraternity or sorority is an incident. The court advanced several legal principals in the determination of the decision in that case which are in point and support the contentions of Salt Lake County even though they were construing the validity of an ordinance rather than the refusal to amend. The following principles of law were announced:

Exercise of statutory discretionary power to district and zone cities for various purposes that are to the public interest will not be interfered with by the courts unless the discretion is abused; and further The selection of one method of solving the zoning problem in preference to another is entirely within the discretion of the city commission and does not, in and of itself, evidence an abuse of discretion.

The most recent cases in point in Utah appears to

be *Dowse v. Salt Lake City, et al*, 123, Utah 107, 255 Pac. 2d 723, decided in April of 1953. This was a case brought to declare a zoning ordinance of Salt Lake City unconstitutional as it applied to the lots involved. Plaintiff's complaint alleged that his land was unsuitable for residential property; that it was located in a potential industrial or commercial zone; that the zoning ordinance as applied to his property, served no beneficial use, and in no manner promoted the health, safety, morals or general welfare of the community, that the value of his property would be greatly enhanced if it could be used for industrial purposes; and that under these circumstances the zoning ordinance was so oppressive as to be confiscatory and unlawful. The request to re-zone plaintiff's land was denied by Salt Lake City. Accordingly, a consistency was established on the Utah application of the Doctrine of Judicial Review, with the Marshall case, the Phi Kappa Iota Fraternity case and the Walton case with the advancement of the following principles:

The wisdom of a plan, necessity, number, nature, and boundaries of zoning districts are matters which lie in the discretion of City authorities.

Only if action of city authorities in creating zoning districts is confiscatory, or arbitrarily may court set aside their action.

Complaint containing allegations that landowner's property might have been more profitably used for commercial than for residential purposes, that his property had become unsuit-

able for residential purposes and that much of property in other blocks in neighborhood was zoned for commercial purposes did not show confiscatory, discriminatory or arbitrary action of city authorities which would justify judicial alteration of zoned boundaries.

The character of zoning district as a whole must be kept in mind determining whether health, safety, morals or general welfare of district and hence community would be promoted by permitting encroachment into residential area of commercial or industrial establishments.

At the hearing held in the Salt Lake County Commission chambers on the 4th day of November, 1959, for the purpose of having the public express their views to the commission there appeared some fifteen persons supporting the proposed change and some fourteen persons objecting to the proposed change. The ordinances of Salt Lake County enacted pursuant to Title 17, Chapter 27, Paragraph 14, Utah Code Annotated 1953, provide for a public hearing prior to a zoning amendment. Such hearings is for the purpose of having the views of the public aired before the Commission in order to give them the benefit of thinking of persons who are interested in the problem. The number of persons who appear are in no way indicative of a cross section of the public for or against the zoning amendment, nor is it material. The board is empowered to make its decision regardless of the recommendations of the District Zoning Committee, the Planning Commission, or the views of the members of the public who attend the hearing, provided their decision is not in conflict with

the best interests of the health, safety, morals and general welfare of the public.

The evidence introduced at the hearing was clearly conflicting. There is no showing that those who opposed the proposed zoning changes were interested directly or indirectly in competitive business ventures, nor would that be material in a determination of this case. The only competent evidence which touches upon the reasonableness of commission action is that dealing with the traffic problem. It was stated that a commercial area at the intersection of 56th South and 13th East would create a bottleneck which should not exist. The commercial area already established on 9th East and on Hyland Drive will have the effect of deterring north-south traffic, and the proposed 13th East expressway should be left open to facilitate said flow of traffic without interference. (Testimony of Mrs. Rippe, page 60) There is no evidence denying the reasonable exercise of the police power on the part of the county commission. The court did not have before it any facts indicating the views of the commissioners and was completely in the dark as to what reasoning processes were used in order to arrive at the decision reached.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing Reasons, appellant maintains that the trial court erred in overruling the County Commission and in ordering them to amend the Zoning Ordinances of Salt Lake County. Appellant respectfully

requests that this court reverse the summary judgment of District Court and allow this matter to be tried on the merits.

GROVER A. GILES
Salt Lake County Attorney
LOUIS M. HAYNIE, and
GERALD E. NIELSON,
Deputies, Civil Division