1960

Gayland v. Salt Lake County et al : Brief of Plaintiff and Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

In this brief we will answer under the headings Points 1, 2 and 3 the respective points raised by the appellant. Under Point 4 we will argue the point raised by the respondent on cross-appeal.

POINTS ONE AND TWO

THE DISTRICT COURT HAS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW ZONING ACTIONS OF THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS WHERE THE BOARD ACTS UNREASONABLY AND ARBITRARILY AND IN ABUSE OF SOUND DISCRETION.

Points 1 and 2 as set forth by counsel for the appellant in their brief are closely related and can best be considered in conjunction with each other. In making their argument counsel have selected out of context language from a number of Utah cases and have come up with a conclusion that these cases do not support, in fact a conclusion that these cases directly refute. In effect, counsel argue:

(a) Zoning is a legislative function;

(b) The courts may not interfere with the legislative process.

Therefore, the courts may not review any action of the county commissioners pertaining to zoning.

It is true that the case of *Walton v. Tracy Collins Trust*, 97 Ut. 249, 92 Pac.2d 724 has a paragraph contained therein to the effect that zoning power is a legislative function. It is also true that the old case of *City of Ogden v. Crossman*, 17 Ut. 66, 53 Pac. 985 has language which implies that under no circumstances may the court interfere with the legislative process so long as the legislative process is actually confined to its proper sphere. However, in numerous cases, the court has expressly held that the zoning function may be reviewed by the courts not only when the zoning body exceeds its jurisdiction, but also where it acts arbitrarily, unreasonably or otherwise abuses sound discretion.

In the Walton case there was not involved the power of the court to review the zoning regulations of a city. In that case was involved the question of the power of a subsidiary administrative body to exercise the zoning power. A number of subsequent cases however, some of which are in fact quoted by the appellant, definitely establish that the courts do have the jurisdiction to review the zoning function. The language in the case of *Marshall v. Salt Lake City*, 105 Ut. 111, 141 Pac. 2d 704 clearly states the extent of the power of the court to review the zoning function. There the court said:

"Unless the action of such body (the city commission) is arbitrary, discriminatory or unreasonable or clearly offends some provision of the constitution or

statute, the court must uphold it, if within the grant of power to the municipality."

From this language, it is obvious that the court may assume jurisdiction to review the action of the city commission in zoning matters in cases where (a) they act beyond their power as granted by the statutes of the state; or (b) although acting within the scope of such power, they act arbitrarily or unreasonably, or where they offend against some provision of the constitution or statute.

In the case of *Phi Kappa Iota Fraternity v. Salt Lake City*, et al., 116 Ut. 536, 212 Pac. 2d 177, the court stated:

"Sections 15-8-89, 90, 91, and 92, U.C.A. 1943, grant the governing body of the city the discretionary power to district and zone cities for various purposes that are to the public interest; and the exercise of that power will not be interfered with by the courts *unless the discretion is abused*."

In the case of *Dowse v. Salt Lake City*, 123 Ut. 107, 225 Pac. 2d 723, the court stated:

"The wisdom of the plan, the necessity, the number, nature and boundaries of the district are matters which lie within the discretion of the city authorities, and only *if their action is confiscatory, discriminatory or arbitrary may the court set aside their action*."

The power of the court to review actions of the zoning body to determine whether or not they are arbitrary, discriminatory or confiscatory is likewise upheld in the case of *Smith v. Barrett*, 20 Pac. 2d 864. See also *Provo City v. Claudin*, 91 U. 60, 63 P. 2d 570.

There can be, therefore, no question as to the jurisdiction of the court to hear the case or to issue the order in question.

The only matter for determination is whether or not the evidence establishes that the action of the county commission was arbitrary or unreasonable or otherwise not in pursuance of the zoning powers conferred upon them generally under the police powers of the state. These are matters which we will discuss in the next succeeding section.

We have no quarrel with the statement of counsel nor with the cases which they cite to the effect that we may not inquire into the motives of the county commission. In this regard they seem to have erected a straw man in order to blow it down. No where in the findings is the question of motive mentioned. It matters not what impelled members of the county commission to vote in a certain way if there is a good sound basis for their so voting. If there is a good sound basis to support the vote, the action of the commission may be sustained even though the thing which compelled the commissioners to vote as they did was wholly frivolous and not germane to the question. On the other hand, though they may have voted with the noblest of motives if there is no sound fundamental reason to support the position which they take, their action cannot be upheld. Therefore, the question into which we must look here is not, what were their motives, but was there good sound basic reason for what they did under the police power of the state. This will be discussed in the next succeeding section.

POINT III

THE COUNTY COMMISSION'S ACTION IN REFUSING THE REZONING OF THE PROPERTY IN QUESTION WAS UNREASONABLE, ARBITRARY AND AN ABUSE OF SOUND DISCRETION.

The plaintiff made application to the County Planning Commission to rezone 80 acres in the vicinity of 56th South and 1250 East to permit the creation of an area shopping center. This application was turned down by the Planning Commission. After working further with the Planning Commission, the plaintiff submitted his revised application to rezone 18.78 acres. The Planning Commission held hearings on this proposal and after a full investigation recommended the rezoning on the 23rd day of May, 1959, and cited as the reason for their action the following:

“It was felt that this commercial center is needed because of the existing and anticipated growth in this area and the lack of commercial facilities to serve the expansion.”

Because of certain problems with approach roads, the matter was further investigated by the Planning Commission, and the plaintiff reduced the amount of land sought to be rezoned to 10 acres. Again the Planning Commission took favorable action. On August 25, 1959, it unanimously approved the application of the plaintiff, and it stated under the caption “Reasons for Action” (Exhibit 1):

“It was found that a neighborhood shopping center was necessary to serve the growing population in this part of the County.”

The County Commission called a public hearing on the matter for November 4, 1959. At this hearing a petition was filed, signed by over 1,000 residents in the area immediately surrounding the area proposed to be rezoned. The petition contained the signature of substantially every resident of property adjoining the 10 acre piece, or so near thereto as to be affected by the operation of a shopping center thereon.

There also appeared at the hearing and gave statements some 14 witnesses from the immediate vicinity. No witness residing near the land in question appeared in protest. No witness of the County or other civic groups appeared for the purpose of giving testimony as to congestion of streets, sewage disposal or other problems. There were 14 witnesses appearing in opposition. Each one of the 14 witnesses appearing in opposition either owned, or was an attorney for the owner of, land in southeast Salt Lake County which is zoned commercially. Some of these commercially zoned lands already had commercial buildings thereon, while others were merely bare land being held by the owners for speculation. A reading of the testimony of these 14 witnesses shows that the sole reason given by them in opposition to the proposed change was that it would have a detrimental effect on their own property. After the hearing the Commission sat on the matter for some five months without action. On March 14, 1960, they denied the zoning change. Commissioner Gundersen voted for the change and Commissioners Cannon and Larson voted against it. In casting his vote against the change, Commissioner Cannon frankly stated that he was voting against it because of its impact on other commercial zones in the area (R. 18). In setting down their reasons for this action, the Commissioners stated: "There is sufficient commercial zoning in the area; not warranted at this time." (Ex. 1).

The power of the County to zone or rezone property is based upon the police power, and in the absence of a valid exercise of that power a zoning restriction cannot stand. The following language is found at 101 *Corpus Juris Secundum* 705:

“In general, zoning, or lawful zoning, is within and constitutes a lawful and valid exercise of the police power, and its validity may be sustained thereunder. Subject to constitutional and statutory guaranties, limitations, and restrictions, as discussed infra Sec. 17, and to the requirement that they must be reasonable, infra Sec. 68, the validity of zoning enactments, regulations, and restrictions is dependent on their being within and constituting a valid exercise of the police power, or on their having a reasonable relation thereto, and, hence, they must fall as invalid unless they are within and can be supported as a legitimate exercise thereof.”

In order to be a valid exercise of the police power, action taken by public authority thereunder must be reasonably related to the public health, safety, welfare or morals. Zoning authorities do not sit as boards of business regulation for the purpose of determining whether or not competition shall be allowed in lawful commercial pursuits. While zoning authorities often attempt to occupy this position, where it appears that there is no valid basis for their action, except the matter of limiting commercial competition, the courts are unanimous in holding that such is not a valid exercise of the zoning powers. If an economic advantage is conveyed upon the owner of land by coincident in the course of the exercising of the police power for the protection of the public health, safety, morals or welfare, such a conferring of economic advantage does not invalidate the zoning regulation. However, when there is no other valid supporting reason for the regulation except the question of limiting commercial competition, it must fail. The following language is found in the case of *In re Lieb's Appeal*, 116 Atl. (2) 860, at page 865:

"Under some circumstances zoning does limit competition by restricting the area within which it can be established or conducted. This is a by-product of zoning. An ordinance which results in the restriction of competition is not unlawful because of it, but the purpose of zoning is not to limit or restrict competition. It would be unlawful for a council to zone or rezone or refuse to zone or rezone for this purpose. Unlike public utility laws, zoning is not for the purpose of limiting or prohibiting competition and when that is the only purpose of a zoning ordinance, it must be declared invalid. The appellant is not entitled to protection against competition by means of a zoning ordinance."

Another case passing upon the same point is the case of *Benson v. Zoning Board of Appeals* (Conn.), 27 Atl. (2) 389, at page 391, where the court stated:

"The record shows that the court's decision was predicated upon the premise that the defendants' denial of the application was based on the objection of the competitors which were not 'a proper factor to be considered under the zoning act.' The court was correct in holding that the zoning authority had no right to regard the preventing of competition as a factor in administering the zoning law."

We know that in the practice of law that it is unusual to find a case reported where all of the fact situations are the same as in the case under consideration. However, in this instance, we do have such a case recently decided by the Supreme Court of Appeals of the State of Virginia. This case is *Board of Supervisors of Fairfax County v. Davis*, reported at 106 S.E. (2) 152. In that case the owners of certain property which was zoned for residential purposes and was being sub-

divided, applied for a zoning change to permit the use of twenty-one acres of the property as a shopping center. Some 1200 residents of the area signed a petition in favor of the rezoning. The main opposition came from the developers of another shopping center one and a quarter miles away from the property in question. The planning commission, by a vote of 9-2, favored granting the application. After a hearing, the board of county supervisors, by a vote of 6-1, denied the rezoning. The matter was taken to courts and the lower court held that the board had improperly denied the application for rezoning because the principal ground for denial was the effect upon a competing shopping center. This decision was appealed to the Court of Appeals, which upheld the lower court. The Court of Appeals stated:

“It is not a proper function of a zoning ordinance to restrict competition or to protect an enterprise which may have been encouraged by a prior zoning classification. * * * As Frederick H. Burr, Jr., a planning and economic development consultant, who testified on behalf of the Reed Estate said:

“ ‘The only point at which it is proper in zoning, in my opinion, to consider the economic effects is the point at which the economic effects reach into the general welfare. So far as holding one piece of ground for a shopping center and prohibiting other shopping centers which are needed simply because a prior commitment has been made or a prior piece of land has been zoned is not—it does not properly come under zoning as a function.’ * * * We agree with the holding of the lower Court that the evidence shows that the denial by the board of rezoning application was based upon improper factors which bore no reasonable relation to the public health, safety, morals or welfare of the

community and was therefor arbitrary, unreasonable and invalid.”

For other cases of the same general holding, see *Duncan Ave. Corporation v. Jersey City*, 122 N.J. 292; 5 Atl. (2) 68; *Gabrielson v. Borough of Glen Ridge*, (N.J.) 176 Atl. 676, *Robinson v. Town Council of Narragansett*, (R.I.) 199 Atl. 308.

This case falls exactly within the decided cases. Application was first made for this change in classification to the County Planning Commission. Provision for the appointment of this Commission is made by Sec. 17-27-2, U.C.A. 1953. The next succeeding section of the statute gives this board the authority to hire technical advisors and experts and to employ a staff for the purpose of carrying out their functions of making zoning recommendations to the County Commission. 17-27-14, U.C.A., 1953 provides that all applications for amendment must go first to the County Planning Commission. The plaintiff complied with this statute exactly. In making changes in the proposal the recommendations of the County Planning Commission were concurred in by the plaintiff. When this matter was sent down to the County Commission, this advisory body of the County Commission, which had gone into all aspects of the case as far as public health, safety, welfare and morals were concerned, advised the County Commission that there was no good reason to prohibit commercial development on this property. In fact, they found that it would be of benefit to the growth of the area. Presumably, therefore, the only thing before the County Commission when it considered the matter was the recommendation of its advisory board plus whatever had been brought out at the hearing. As we have pointed out, there was nothing brought out at the hearing

which would warrant the restriction of this property against commercial use.

In their brief, the County has attempted to sustain their action on the basis of a passing statement found on page 60 of the record of the hearing before the Commission. A Mrs. Rippe, the owner of a competing property some three miles away, had the following to say in regard to the problem of traffic:

"Imagine how many cars are going to line up in that small area before they swing out of the area and wait for the red signal to turn green. I am in the insurance business and I know that bumpers have actually hit on the small shopping areas."

Her principal basis for opposition, however, was stated in more detail, and she concluded as follows:

"I also feel that the type of developer that our opponent is that if he is beginning with ten acres, he is a very progressive man; he will be requesting more later. It will have a tendency to hurt all shopping centers."

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